1955

# H. William Nalder, Catherine Nalder and H. William Nalder, Jr. v. Kellogg Sales Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiffs in this action (respondents herein) filed suit against defendant (appellant herein) alleging that they had been damaged in their business as turkey raisers in the years 1952, 1953 and 1954 because of defendant's failure to release real estate and chattel mortgages executed by the plaintiffs and delivered to defendant in connection with certain financing agreements between the parties in the years 1949, 1950 and 1951. The plaintiffs' contention is to the effect that the existence of the mortgages upon the records in Davis County, Utah, prevented them from securing turkey financing from other companies, interfered with their credit and pre-

vented them from raising the number of turkeys during the years of 1952, 1953 and 1954, they claim they intended to and were capable of raising, which, had plaintiffs been able to secure the necessary financing, would have resulted in profits of \$129,700.80. (R. 1-2)

The defendant denied the material allegations of the wrong alleged and of the damages claimed and counter-claimed to foreclose a real estate mortgage from the plaintiffs, H. William Nalder, Sr. and Catherine Nalder, his wife. (R. 4-11)

Issues were framed and the case proceeded to trial before the court without a jury and resulted in a judgment, findings of fact and conclusions of law by which plaintiffs were awarded the sum of \$90,950.10 after deducting the sum of \$6,584.10 which the court found was owing by plaintiffs to defendant upon the note and mortgage alleged in defendant's counterclaim. (R. 22-25)

Within the required time after judgment, defendant filed its motion for new trial, which, after argument, was denied and the case is now before this court on appeal both from the judgment and the order denying the motion for new trial.

It should be observed at this point that plaintiffs' complaint contained a second cause of action, which at the trial was voluntarily dismissed by plaintiffs with prejudice and upon their own motion. (R. 44) Consequently, matters relating to the second cause of action are not before this court.

The record in this case shows without dispute that prior to 1949, plaintiff, H. William Nalder, Sr., made plans and preparations for going into the turkey raising business. Neither Nalder, Sr. nor Jr. had ever engaged in

that business before that time. (T. 80-81) Among other preparations which Nalder Sr. had made was to build and equip a brooder house capable of receiving about 6,000 turkey poults. (T. 18) In 1949, H. William Nalder, Sr. made a partnership arrangement with his son, H. William Nalder, Jr. and they jointly launched their turkey business. (T. 16-17, 138)

It should here be noted that plaintiff, Catherine Nalder, wife of H. William Nalder, Sr., was not a member of the partnership, and had no interest in the enterprise. Notwithstanding this fact, the trial court entered judgment in Mrs. Nalder's favor. Concerning this action of the trial court, we shall have more to say hereafter.

Because Nalder Sr. and Jr. were financially unable to carry on the turkey business without credit for each of the years 1949, 1950, 1951, they entered into a contract with the defendant whereby, in exchange for their agreement to use defendant's feed preparations, defendant agreed to advance the cost of turkey poults and the necessary feed to grow and mature them for market. Turkey finance agreements for 1949, 1950 and 1951 are involved in this case. All were the same except for variation in amount and year, and defendant's Exhibit 1, which is the contract for 1949, is typical of the other two. To secure the defendant for these advances, and in addition to signing the turkey finance contracts, Nalder Sr. and Jr., each year for the three years in question, signed and delivered to defendant promissory notes for the estimated amount of their requirements and secured the notes with chattel mortgages upon the turkeys and their machinery and equipment used in the business. The promissory notes are not in the record, but the chattel mortgages are part of the

record as Exhibits "A-1," "A-2," and "A-3." It will be specifically observed that neither the turkey finance contracts nor the chattel mortgages were signed by plaintiff, Catherine Nalder. Here again it is pertinent to point out that notwithstanding this fact, judgment was entered by the trial court in Mrs. Nalder's favor for damages for defendant's failure or refusal to release these chattel mortgages, which she never signed. This action of the trial court can only be accounted for upon the theory that she sustained damage because they were not released. The only proof of damage in the record relates solely to the turkey business in which Mrs. Nalder had no interest. Our comments with regard to this most startling action of the trial court will likewise be discussed hereafter.

The financing provided by defendant for 1949 was about \$26,000.00. This was made up of an initial estimate of \$24,000.00 which proved to be insufficient. Sometime before September 14, 1949, it was determined that an additional \$2,000.00 would be needed and defendant was requested to and did advance this additional sum. This advance was secured by a real estate mortgage upon the home of Mr. and Mrs. Nalder, Sr. (Ex. "C-2"; T. 21-22, 86-87, Ex. 2-1, Ex. 2-2, T. 90, 259, 267)

Plaintiff, H. William Nalder, Jr., did not execute this mortgage or any other real estate mortgage involved in this case. Entirely inconsistent with this fact, the trial court proceeded to award him damages for defendant's alleged refusal to release real estate mortgages and added a penalty in a like amount to the actual damages found to have been sustained.

Late in the year 1949, the turkey crop raised to maturity by Nalder Sr. and Jr. was processed and placed in

storage. Between April, 1950 and July, 1950, this crop was sold with a resulting loss of over \$6,000.00. Out of the original 6,000 poults with which the Nalders began operations, they matured 3,400 birds. They lost 1,400 birds in the brooder and 1,000 more during the season. (Ex. "D", Tr. 22, 26, 46, 41, 81, 86, 121)

In spite of the 1949 loss the defendant agreed to and did finance the Nalders' 1950 operations. Under the 1950 chattel mortgage (Ex. "A-2") defendant advanced \$23,300.00. As in 1949 the estimate for the 1950 crop proved inadequate and responsive to the Nalders' request, defendant made additional advances of \$3,600.00. To secure the additional advance Nalders gave defendant another real estate mortgage (Ex. "C-9") which included the unpaid 1949 debt totaling \$6,555.12 of which \$5,627.39 was principal and \$927.73 was accrued interest. (Exs. "C-9", 4, "C-8", "D", "Y"; Tr. 86, 93, 94, 258, 259, 267, 268).

In April, 1950, Mr. and Mrs. Nalder, Sr. executed a real estate mortgage (Ex. "C-3") which was recorded but under which no advances were ever made. The real estate mortgages of April 1, 1950 and August 15, 1950 (Ex. "C-3" and "C-9") contained the specific provision that they were given to secure any and all debts owing by Mr. and Mrs. Nalder, Sr. and Jr. to defendant. The promissory notes secured by the mortgage of August 15, 1950 (Ex. "C-9") were dated July 28, 1950 (Ex. "C-8" and Ex. 4).

The result of the 1950 operation was that Nalders were able to pay off all advances made for that year with a surplus of about \$1,000.00 which was applied to pay accrued interest on the 1949 debt owing defendant. (Tr.

27; Exs. "E-5", "D") Something like 5,000 birds were raised and marketed that year.

In 1951 the Nalders raised about 6,000 turkeys. (Tr. 33, 110; Ex. "D") From the 1951 operation the Nalders made about \$400.00 over and above the costs and expense incurred in raising and marketing. (Ex. "D", "F-9-15", Ex. "I-8"; Tr. 35, 40, 41, 44-46) They operated that year under a financing program calling for 125% of estimated cost and gave their note and chattel mortgage securing the financing for \$42,825.00. (Ex. "A-3")

The record clearly reflects that defendant made all of the advances that were required to enable Nalder, Sr. and Jr. to raise turkeys in 1949, 1950 and 1951 (Tr. 83, 88-9, 262, 268-69)

The portions of the record above referred to also reflect the results of the Nalders' turkey operations. In addition, it is significant to add plaintiffs' own appraisal of the success which they had achieved, made prior to the time that they asserted any claim that defendant had destroyed their business for which it should pay them \$129,700.80. They clearly acknowledged without equivocation their complete failure to operate their business successfully. (Ex. "F-4", "F-21", Ex. "I")

At the end of 1951 defendant declined to finance Nalder, Sr. and Jr. any longer. They had failed to substantially reduce the amount of their indebtedness to defendant which had been carried over from 1949. In addition, irregularities were discovered in Nalders' dealings with defendant. They had sold turkeys covered by defendant's 1951 chattel mortgage and had not accounted for the proceeds (Ex. "F-4", "F-16"; Tr. 36, 38, 43-45, 111, 112) In fact they never did account for all the

turkeys which they raised that year though repeated demands for an accounting were made.

Late in the fall of 1951 a conference was held between the Nalders and Mr. Williams and Mr. Aust representing the defendant for the purpose of discussing the liquidation of the amount owing defendant. H. William Nalder, Sr. and Mrs. Nalder, Sr. met Mr. Williams and Mr. Aust at the Hotel Utah. It is their contention that when the subject of financing for 1952 was raised Williams not only refused to extend further credit but went further and threatened that he would prevent the Nalders from getting credit elsewhere. (Tr. 47, 107-8, 113-16, 177-79, 182, 184-5) This is emphatically denied by Williams. (Tr. 265-67, 269) Far more persuasive than Nalders' claims are letters and documents which reflect that no such threat was ever voiced, much less carried out. (Ex. "F-16-25", Ex. 3, Ex. "G-2") Nalder, Jr. did not think that defendant had displayed a threatening attitude for he voiced his understanding in language the exact opposite of such a situation. (Ex. "F-16") Furthermore, he states that his father had told him the exact opposite of what his parents testified to at the trial. (Tr. 156) Instead of making threats defendant made repeated offers to give any company willing to finance plaintiffs a subordination of its claim provided plaintiffs in return would account for and pay \$352.00 which was the sum plaintiffs had received from the sale of turkeys illegally sold in violation of the terms of the 1951 chattel mortgage. (Tr. 115-17, 135, 195, Ex. "F-16-25," 3, "G-2") The plaintiffs recognized their obligation to make this accounting and attempted to comply.

In their testimony at the trial plaintiffs contended

that they had the facilities and intended to raise 14,000 turkeys each year for 1952, 1953 and 1954 had financing been available to enable them to do so. It is of utmost importance to point out that notwithstanding such claims in the prior years of 1949, 1950 and 1951, their operation had never exceeded 6,000 birds and they never, at any time, raised or marketed more than that number. (Tr. 81, 27, 33; Ex. "D") Furthermore, in the years 1950 and 1951 they had exactly the same facilities available to them as were available in 1952, 1953 and 1954 when both of them working together never exceeded 6,000 birds in their joint operation. (Tr. 18, 50, 60, 48, 132 and 153)

During the trial the matter of the efforts of plaintiffs to secure other financing for 1952, 1953 and 1954, after defendant refused to extend further credit at the end of 1951, was testified to at great length. Several applications made by either Nalder, Jr. or Nalder, Sr. were introduced and received in evidence. (Exs. "G", "H", "I" and "Q") None of these applications received favorable action and no credits were advanced under them. Plaintiffs contend that they were never able to find out the reasons for the rejection of their applications until just prior to the time this action was brought when they finally learned that the mortgages described in their complaint were unreleased. (Tr. 76-7, 102, 158-9, 163-4, 180) They asserted that they had been led to believe all of those mortgages had been released but finally conceded on cross examination that since the debt represented by the real estate mortgage (Ex. "C-9") had never been paid they were not entitled to a release of that particular mortgage. (Tr. 108, 164) With respect to all other mortgages, both chattel and real estate, they asserted they were entitled to releases either be-



cause of promises made by the defendant or because the sums advanced had been repaid. The record does not support plaintiffs' contention and especially with respect to the real estate mortgages of April and August, 1950 (Exs. "C-3" and "C-9") because both mortgages expressly provided that they were to secure all indebtedness then existing or accruing thereafter by all the plaintiffs to defendant until the same was paid in full. The indebtedness represented by these mortgages was never in fact paid. These two real estate mortgages totaled on their face the sum of \$13,276.92.

In testifying concerning the execution and delivery of the real estate mortgage of August 15, 1950 (Ex. "C-9") Nalder, Sr. made the statement that it was given to defendant with the promise that the chattel mortgage for 1949 (Ex. "A-1") would be released. This promise on defendant's behalf was attributed to a salesman in defendant's employ, and testified to over the repeated and strenuous objections of defendant as to its competency. There was no evidence of authority or agency in said salesman to make such a promise. Furthermore, the undisputed record is to the effect that he had no such authority. (Ex. "Y", Tr. 217, 256-8, 263-5)

Plaintiffs further contended that they were entitled to and promised releases of the chattel mortgages for 1950 and 1951. (Exs. "A-2", "A-3") No such promise was ever made or if made there was no showing that it was binding on defendant. (Ex. "E-5" and "E-6") Defendant, in retaining all of the mortgages of record, was acting upon the instruction and advice of counsel not to release any mortgages so long as prior existing indebtedness was not paid for the reason that in the opinion of such counsel

defendant would be jeopardizing its rights by doing so. (Tr. 211-12, 266, 270)

At the very time that plaintiffs contend their business was being harmed by defendant's unreleased mortgages, the record is without dispute that in addition to the real estate mortgages held by defendant (Ex. "C-3" and "C-9") totaling \$13,276.92, Nalder, Sr. had a real estate mortgage for \$9,000.00 on the same property described in defendant's mortgage with Deseret Federal Savings & Loan Association which was of record in Davis County, Utah. (Exs. "H" and "Q") And at the same time there was of record in the same county against Nalder, Jr. a real estate mortgage for \$2,500.00 and a chattel mortgage for \$2,500.00 (Ex. "I"). These various mortgages totaled \$27,276.69.

Furthermore, there is evidence in the record that the plaintiffs were regarded as poor financial risks. (Ex. "I-6") In addition there was no evidence offered to show that defendant's various applications would have been accepted even though all defendant's mortgages had been released. (Tr. 243, 246, 249-51)

Finally, no demand for release of real estate mortgages was ever made by plaintiffs and no demand for the release of chattel mortgages was made until the end of 1953 or early 1954. (Ex. "J-3", Tr. 104, 106, 140-43, 113, 163, 179, 182) The chattel mortgages were all released on March 11, 1954. (Ex. "B-1", "B-2" and "B-3")

During the trial numerous objections to the introduction of evidence and the propriety of counsel's questions were raised to no avail. These matters will be referred to and argued hereafter.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

## Point 1

IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO THE PLAINTIFF, CATHERINE NALDER, THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BECAUSE THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT SAID PLAINTIFF HAD NO INTEREST IN THE BUSINESS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN INJURED BY THE ACT OF DEFENDANT.

## Point 2

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO PLAINTIFF, H. WILLIAM NALDER, JR. FOR DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED WRONGFUL FAILURE TO RELEASE REAL ESTATE MORTGAGES TO WHICH HE WAS NEVER A PARTY.

## Point 3

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN DOUBLE THE AMOUNT OF ACTUAL DAMAGES FOUND BY HIM TO HAVE BEEN SUSTAINED BY PLAINTIFFS BECAUSE OF DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED WRONGFUL FAILURE OR REFUSAL TO RELEASE CHATTEL MORTGAGES AND ERRED FURTHER IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO PLAINTIFF, CATHERINE NALDER, FOR DEFENDANT'S FAILURE TO RELEASE SUCH MORTGAGES.

## Point 4

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO PLAINTIFFS BECAUSE

OF DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED FAILURE OR REFUSAL TO RELEASE REAL ESTATE MORTGAGES BECAUSE NO DEMAND OR REQUEST FOR SUCH RELEASES WAS EVER MADE, AND FOR THE ADDITIONAL REASON THAT PLAINTIFFS NEVER PAID OR OTHERWISE DISCHARGED THE OBLIGATION SECURED BY SAID MORTGAGES.

Point 5

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN AWARDING DAMAGES FOR THE ALLEGED WRONGFUL FAILURE OF DEFENDANT TO RELEASE CHATTEL MORTGAGES:

(A) BECAUSE NO DEMAND FOR THE RELEASE OF SUCH MORTGAGES WAS MADE UNTIL THE END OF 1953 OR EARLY 1954, AND

(B) BECAUSE EACH CHATTEL MORTGAGE SECURED THE PRIOR UNPAID DEBT OF PLAINTIFFS, H. WILLIAM NALDER, SR. AND JR. WHICH WAS NOT PAID, HENCE NO RELEASE COULD BE DEMANDED, AND

(C) BECAUSE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE FROM WHICH IT WOULD APPEAR THAT PLAINTIFFS, H. WILLIAM NALDER, SR. AND JR. COULD NOT HAVE SECURED 1954 FINANCING AFTER RELEASE OF SAID MORTGAGES WAS DELIVERED BY DEFENDANT ABOUT MARCH 11, 1954.

Point 6

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN APPLYING AN IMPROPER RULE OF DAMAGES TO PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM OF LOSS OF ANTICIPATED PROFITS FOR THE YEARS 1952, 1953 AND 1954.

## Point 7

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN RECEIVING IN EVIDENCE, OVER DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION, PLAINTIFFS' EXHIBITS "M," "N" AND "O" FOR THE REASON THAT SAID EXHIBITS WERE INCOMPETENT, IRRELEVANT AND IMMATERIAL TO ESTABLISH PLAINTIFFS' CLAIM OF LOST PROFITS.

## Point 8

THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THERE IS NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE THAT DEFENDANT'S FAILURE OR REFUSAL TO RELEASE EITHER ITS REAL ESTATE OR CHATTEL MORTGAGES WAS THE PROXIMATE CAUSE OF ANY LOSS TO PLAINTIFFS, H. WILLIAM NALDER, SR., AND JR.

## Point 9

THE TRIAL COURT'S JUDGMENT MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHES THAT DEFENDANT ACTED IN GOOD FAITH.

## Point 10

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE OVER DEFENDANT'S OBJECTIONS THAT SCOVILLE, EREKSON AND SCHINKER PROMISED OR AGREED ON BEHALF OF DEFENDANT TO RELEASE MORTGAGES WITH NO PRELIMINARY SHOWING OF AGENCY OR AUTHORITY OF SAID PERSONS TO MAKE SUCH PROMISES, AND FOR THE FURTHER REASON THAT UNCONTROVERTED TESTIMONY

ESTABLISHES THAT SAID PERSONS HAD NO SUCH AUTHORITY.

Point 11

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN THE ADMISSION OF HEARSAY EVIDENCE AND IN NUMEROUS RULINGS ON OBJECTIONS TO LEADING AND OTHER IMPROPER QUESTIONS PROPOUNDED BY COUNSEL.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1

IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO THE PLAINTIFF, CATHERINE NALDER, THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR BECAUSE THE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT SAID PLAINTIFF HAD NO INTEREST IN THE BUSINESS CLAIMED TO HAVE BEEN INJURED BY THE ACT OF DEFENDANT.

The whole theory of plaintiffs' case rests upon the proposition that a business was damaged because of a failure of defendant to release the mortgages described in plaintiffs' complaint. It should require no citation of authority to support the contention that before such damage could ever be recovered it would have to be first shown that the party claiming such damage owned an interest in the business claimed to have been injured. Notwithstanding such elementary requirement, the trial court not only proceeded to award to the plaintiff, Catherine Nalder, such damages without proof of her ownership of an interest therein, but even more startling awarded her damages in the face of her husband's testimony that the busi-

ness in question belonged to him and his son exclusively. (Tr. 16-17) That this is true is apparent from the fact that Mrs. Nalder never signed any of the chattel mortgages involved in this case or the turkey finance contracts which were a part of each transaction between defendant and plaintiffs, H. William Nalder, Sr. and Jr. (Exs. "A-1", "A-2", "A-3")

We shall cite cases hereinafter which clearly rule that before damages for loss of future or anticipated profits may be recovered, it must be shown that such a business is in existence and is well established. To award damages for injury to property not belonging to the claimant is so palpably erroneous that such judgment cannot possibly stand.

## POINT 2

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED ERROR IN AWARDING DAMAGES TO PLAINTIFF, H. WILLIAM NALDER, JR. FOR DEFENDANT'S ALLEGED WRONGFUL FAILURE TO RELEASE REAL ESTATE MORTGAGES TO WHICH HE WAS NEVER A PARTY.

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