1955

H. William Nalder, Catherine Nalder and H. William Nalder, Jr. v. Kellogg Sales Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

POINT 3 — DAMAGES

THE LAW AND EVIDENCE SUSTAIN THE COURTS

DETERMINATION OF DAMAGES.

(A) Actual damage (Appellant's point 6)

(B) Punitive damages (Appellant's point 3)

(A) Actual Damages

There is no serious dispute as to the rules of law cited by the appellant in its brief, wherein it is stated that dam-

ages for loss of profits must be proven with reasonable certainty, or that the damages must be based upon some reasonable formula. The plaintiff does not agree that damages for loss of profits must always be established by proof of past experience. Usually this is the type of proof resorted to because there is nothing better. However, in this case, the plaintiff actually raised turkeys during the three years for which damages are claimed. These damages were based upon actual experience rather than resorting to something less definite such as experiences prior to the years for which loss of profits are claimed.

If the damage is the certain result of the wrong of the defendants, and the damages can be shown with any reasonable certainty, the wrongdoer will not be heard to complain. In the leading case of *Story Parchment Company vs. Patterson Parchment Paper Company* 282 US 555, 51 Sup. Ct. 248, 75 L. ed. 544, it is stated:

"It is true that there was uncertainty as to the extent of the damage, but there was none as to the fact of the damage; and there is a clear distinction between the measure of proof necessary to establish the fact that petitioner had sustained some damage and a measure of proof necessary to enable the jury to fix the amount. The Rule which precludes the recovery of uncertain damages applies to such as are not the certain result of the wrong, not to those damages which are definitely attributable to the wrong and only uncertain in respect of their amount * * * *

Where the tort itself is of such a nature, as to preclude the ascertainment of the amount of damages with certainty, it would be a perversion of fundamental principles of justice to deny all relief to the injured person, and thereby relieve the wrongdoer from mak-

ing any amend for his acts. In such case, while the damages may not be determined by mere speculation or guess it will be enough if the evidence shows the extent of the damages, as a matter of just and reasonable inference, although the result be only approximate. The wrongdoer is not entitled to complain that they can not be measured with the exactness and precision that would be possible if the case, which he alone, is responsigle for making, were otherwise. (Citation of authorities) As the Supreme Court of Michigan has forcefully declared, the risk of the uncertainty should be thrown upon the wrongdoers instead upon the injured party."

The plaintiffs assert there is no need to rely upon the foregoing rule since the evidence of damage is shown with reasonable certainty and is not based upon speculation or conjecture.

1. The evidence reasonably shows that the plaintiffs had the facilities to raise in excess of 14,000 turkeys per year. Mr. Nalder, Sr. had adequate facilities for raising 6,000 turkeys near his home. It was clearly established his brooder house had a capacity to brood 6,000 poults. For the three years that the defendant financed the plaintiffs, the plaintiffs raised 5,000 the first year and 6,000 each of the last two years. (Ex. A-1, 2, Ex. D1-5 App. 1 and 2) In fact the sales representative of the defendant recommended that two flocks of 6,000 each be brooded by Mr. Nalder, Sr. and be raised on his farm. (Ex. E-1, App. 1)

In addition to the facilities of Mr. Nalder, Sr., Mr. Nalder, Jr., had leased a 900-acre ranch east of Bountiful Utah from Deon Toone and had made arrangements for the use of the brooder house of Seth Oberg which had a capacity to brood

11,000 poult. (T-139) There was no evidence submitted by the defendant in any way refuting the foregoing evidence.

2. The evidence reasonably sustained the court's findings that the plaintiffs intended to and would have raised 14,000 turkeys.

Mr. Nalder, Jr. testified that he intended to raise 9,000 turkeys. (T-143) An application for financing 9,000 turkeys was made by him to Farmer's Grain Coop. (Ex. G-1). In fact, 9,000 turkeys were ordered and delivery tendered. Since financing had not been approved, at the time of delivery, the turkeys were not placed in the rented brooder house, but rather 6,000 were placed in the brooder house of Mr. Nalder, Sr. and the additional 3,000 were turned over to another grower. (T-146, 51, 52) Mr. Nalder, Sr. was to receive his turkeys at a later date. (T-51) When financing could not be secured, the 6,000 turkeys actually brooded were taken from him (T-52).

In addition to the 9,000 ordered by Mr. Nalder, Jr. Mr. Nalder, Sr. made application to raise 5,000 turkeys on his ranch where 6,000 turkeys had been raised for each of the past two years. (Ex. 2)

Since an application, order, and delivery of 9,000 turkeys had been made for the ranch east of Bountiful, and since an application had been made for 5,000 turkeys to be raised on the home ranch, the court was justified in finding the plaintiffs intended to and had the facilities to raise 14,000 turkeys. The defendant offered no testimony in any way refuting the foregoing evidence.

3. In a normal loss of profits case, involving the raising of turkeys, there would be considerable uncertainty as to

the price which would have been paid for the turkeys, the price paid for feed, the number of turkeys which might have died, and the price at which the turkeys would have been sold. However, in this case, such uncertainty was not present since the plaintiff actually raised some turkeys in each of the years for which a loss is claimed. Thus, the purchase price, the cost of the feed, the mortality loss, and sales price was established without any speculation as to whether the plaintiffs would have bought or sold when the market prices were up or down.

When the plaintiffs could not secure financing from the feed companies, Mr. Rasmussen, a feed dealer in Ogden, co-signed with the plaintiff at the First Security Bank enabling him to raise a small herd of turkeys each year. The plaintiffs raised 1018 turkeys in 1952, 1430 turkeys in 1953, and 2200 turkeys in 1954. These amounts were taken into consideration in computing damages.

Mr. Nalder testified as to the amount paid for the turkeys, feed, electricity, and a watchman. The amount for processing the turkeys at the end of the year is shown by the manifest of the processing plant. (Ex. L) These amounts were summarized on Exhibit M., (App. 36) In addition to the amounts actually received for the turkeys, as shown by Exhibit L, Mr. Nalder testified that he sold 51 turkeys from his home and the amount therefore is also shown on Exhibit M. From these facts the profit per bird was computed and the mortality rate established.

In 1952, the plaintiffs sold 986 turkeys and would have lost 414 turkeys out of 14,000 based upon the established mortality rate of 3.1 per cent. These amounts were deducted

from 14,000 leaving 12,300 turkeys to which the average profit of \$1.86 per turkey was applied. (Ex. M, App. 36)

For the years 1953 and 1954 the number of turkeys and the amount paid therefor was established by Exhibit W, a ledger sheet of the Lee Brown Processing Plant. Exhibit U, Exhibit T and U-1 and 2 are copies of the ledger sheets of Rassmussen Feed Company which shows the amount paid for feed during 1953 and 1954. The 1953 turkeys were sold live weight from the field and therefore there was no processing charge. The number sold and the amount received is shown on Exhibit X taken from the records of the purchaser. During the time of trial in October, 1954, the turkeys then being raised were appraised by the Lee Brown Company and the Company offered to purchase the same at the price of 23½c per pound for Toms and 32c per pound for Hens, live weight out of the field as the turkeys then existed. (Ex. V) This was the price actually used even though the turkeys would have weighed more at the time of the Thanksgiving market. These amounts were again summarized in Exhibit N for 1953 and Exhibit O for 1954. In each case the amounts shown on the summarization were supported by other evidence in the record — either the testimony of Mr. Nalder or the ledger sheets from the seller or the purchaser of the turkeys, and from the records of the feed company.

The foregoing evidence clearly established initial cost, maintenance and feeding expenses, sales price and expenses, and mortality rate. These amounts were then extended to show the actual loss of the plaintiffs by being denied the right to raise the number of turkeys for which they had ample facilities. Such evidence certainly presented to the court a reasonable

basis for determining the loss of the plaintiffs. It presented a much stronger case than one attempting to project loss of profits based upon past experience. Rather it gave an index under actual conditions for each of the years and eliminated any speculation as to whether the plaintiffs would have sold their turkeys when the market price was higher and eliminated any speculation as to how many turkeys the plaintiffs would have lost during the course of each year. The defendant introduced no evidence whatsoever refuting the foregoing matters pertaining to damages.

4. The plaintiffs introduced and the court deducted amounts in mitigation of the damages. From the total amount of loss sustained for the three years was deducted the rent on the ranch amounting to \$3600 which was not paid because the lease was cancelled. In addition, the salary received by Wililam Nalder, Jr. for the period of time which he would have been spending his full time raising the turkeys was deducted amounting to \$6,600. (Ex. 3, App. 39) Mr. Nalder, Sr. testified that he raised his turkeys at his home in addition to carrying on his regular employment and therefore no deduction was made because of amounts received from his employment. (T 218)

In Caspery v. Moore, 70 P2d 224, 21 Cal. App. 694, it is stated that evidence of profits both past and present is admissible in determining the amount of prospective profits. In DeWiner v. Nelson, 33 P2d 356, 54 Idaho 560, it was held that the evidence that the plaintiff made daily computation of costs and determined the average daily profit for feeding each man was competent to prove loss of anticipated profits.

Relying upon the authorities cited by the defendant, it is submitted that the evidence in this case does establish a reasonable formula or basis for computing the damages or that the damages have been shown with reasonable certainty. If exact certainty has not been established, the defendant cannot be heard to complain. Again quoting from the leading case of *Story Parchment Company vs. Patterson Parchment Paper Company*, *supra*, decided by United States Supreme Court:

“To deny the injured party the right to recover any actual damages in such cases, because they are of such a nature which cannot be thus certainly measured, would be to enable parties to profit by, and speculate upon, their own wrongs, encourage violence and invite trepidation. Such is not, and cannot be, the law * * * and the adoption of any arbitrary rule in such a case, which will relieve the wrongdoer from any part of the damages, and throw the loss upon the injured party, would be little less than legalized robbery.

Whatever of uncertainty there may be in this mode of estimating damages, is an uncertainty caused by the defendant's own wrongful act; and justice and sound public policy alike require that he should bear the risk of the uncertainty thus produced.”

The court also quoted from another case discussing this question wherein it was stated:

“Certainty, it is true, would thus be attained; but it would be the certainty of injustice.”

B. PUNITIVE DAMAGES (APPELLANT'S POINT NO. 3)

The defendant argues in point 3 that the damages may not be doubled unless the plaintiffs can show the amount

of damages attributed to the defendant's failure to release the real estate mortgages. This is a related argument to that considered in this brief under point 2, B, involving proximate cause. As there discussed, the law does not require apportionment of the damages between these caused by failure to release the real estate mortgages and those caused by failure to release the chattel mortgages, where both proximately caused the damage.

A statute such as 57-3-8, Utah Code Annotated providing for a penalty if mortgages are not released is a very common one. Thirty-one states have a similar statute. The Utah statute was originally enacted on March 13, 1884 as contained in Section 2641, Compiled Laws of Utah, 1888. The language in the law has remained substantially the same ever since that date. It was Section 206, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1898, and was Section 78-3-8, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, and Utah Code Annotated, 1943.

The legislative intent is clear. The statement of damages is made without equivocation in the first sentence of the statute as follows

"If the mortgagee fails to discharge or release any mortgage after the same has been satisfied, he shall be liable to the mortgagor for double the damages resulting from such failure *****" Sec. 57-3-8, UCA, 1953.

Even construing the statute strictly, there can be no question about the requirements of the statute. There was ample competent evidence to justify the trial court in finding that the failure to release all of the mortgages, caused the damage to the plaintiffs.

The evidence is such as to support or warrant punitive damages even if the legislature had not so provided. The defendant refused to finance the plaintiffs after 1951 and threatened that they would not let any other company finance them. This threat was carried out. Officious letters were written to Farmer's Grain Coop and General Mills misrepresenting the facts as to the payment in 1951 and claiming a lien on the turkeys. Such a letter was only calculated to prevent the plaintiffs from securing financing from other sources. The defendant when asked if it would release a mortgage by another feed company didn't just answer that question, but proceeded to advise the other company that the plaintiffs had not kept their promises, had failed to account for turkeys and apparently advised the other company that the plaintiffs were trouble makers and further that the defendant would not finance them. Such conduct not only failed to show good faith, but rather showed a willful intent to damage the plaintiffs. These facts have been review in detail under Point I D. The conduct of the defendant company was overt, intentional, wrongful and malicious. As such it is sufficient to sustain the award of punitive damages even without support of the statute.

In *Taylor v. Dudley* (1923) 237 P. 645, 28 Ariz. 536, the Court in affirming a judgment based upon a statute providing a penalty for failure to release mortgages, stated:

"The refusal to satisfy the mortgage need not be willful or oppressive, it is sufficient if it results from inadvertence, inattention or indifference."

The conduct of the defendant in this case cannot even be classified as inadvertence, inattention or indifference. Rather it was a calculated course of conduct designed to coerce ad-

ditional payments on a mortgage which had been satisfied. The defendant is therefore liable for double the damages arising therefrom. As required, the trial court made a factual determination based upon adequate competent evidence. The Legislature has specified the results to follow from such a determination. The Supreme Court, following the traditional rules of review, should sustain that judgment.

POINT IV.

THE COURT DID NOT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR IN GRANTING JUDGMENT TO ALL THE PLAINTIFFS (Appellant's Points 1, 2, 3, and 5)

The defendant on appeal places considerable emphasis on the issue that the judgment was awarded to all the plaintiffs. Consistently in the statement of facts and in four out of the eleven points reference is made to this matter. No mention of this supposed issue was made at the time of trial nor was the same argued on the motion for a new trial. This issue is raised for the first time on appeal.

In 39 Am. Jur. 995, PARTIES Sec. 119, it is stated:

It appears to be quite generally held that objection to a misjoinder of parties plaintiff should be interposed before judgment, otherwise, it is deemed to be waived, especially where no prejudice could arise to the defendant from the alleged misjoinder. After a judgment has been entered in favor of several plaintiffs, an objection that one of the plaintiffs had no interest in the action and was therefore improperly joined cannot be successfully urged. Such an objection cannot be taken advantage of in a reviewing court.

Likewise, in 3 Am. Jur. 70, Appeal & Error Sec. 311, it is stated:

It is well settled that the objection that there was a defect or a misjoinder of parties cannot be raised for the first time on appeal or writ of error ***.

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